66472

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

:

CARL RAY SONGER,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SIDINATE

CIRCULTRICOURTE NO. 74-49-CF

CASE NO

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA FROM DENIAL OF MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Howard H. Babb, Jr.
Public Defender
Fifth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 1197
Tavares, Florida 32778

THIS IS A CAPITAL CASE; EXECUTION IS IMMINENT: TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 5, 1985, 7:00 A.M.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was convicted on February 27, 1974, following a jury trial. An advisory sentence of death was recommended that same day. A sentence of death was imposed by the trial judge on February 28, 1974, and again on August 17, 1977.

The subsequent history of the case until January 25, 1985, as it appears in defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, is attached as Appendix One.

On January 25, 1985, a second Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (Rule 3.850 Fla.R.Crim.P.) was heard before the Honorable John W. Booth, who had presided over the sentencing and re-sentencing. The following witnesses were sworn and testimony was taken: C. John Coniglio, trial counsel and counsel at the sentencing and re-sentencing; Lisa Crews, one of the jurors in defendant's case; Joseph Jordan, counsel for the Habeas Petitions in the state and federal courts, and Carl Ray Songer, defendant herein. Judge Booth also made statements of fact from the bench as to the manner in which he applied the statute in 1974. On January 27, 1985, Judge Booth entered an order in which he found that two issues had not been disposed of in any prior proceeding, to wit:

"1. The retroactive effect, if any, that the case of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 US 586, 571 L.Ed. 973, 98 S.Ct. 2954 (1978) has on Defendant's 1974 Penalty Proceeding of his trial and the Jury Instructions given during that part of the trial, and

"2. Defendant's Eighth Amendment claim as to his prolonged almost eleven years of incarceration on Death Row." (Page 4, Order of January 27, 1985)

Judge Booth then rejected the first issue for the following reasons:

"Lockett did not make its requirement retroactive nor has the Florida Supreme Court, by case law or Rule, made such requirement retroactive. However, it should be noted that the U.S. Supreme Court has in subsequent cases applied Lockett to vacate death (see Jordan v. Arizona, et al. 438 US 911) but that Court has not SPECIFICALLY ruled on Florida's Penalty Proceeding as it existed under Chapter 72-724, Laws of Florida."

Judge Booth rejected defendant's second claim on the ground that "...Defendant's Eighth Amendment claim for relief does not APPEAR to be within the scope of Rule 3.850; but that if same is contemplated by said Rule additional evidence would be required by the undersigned before a proper ruling could be made as to that issue..." (Page 7, Order of January 27, 1985).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Petitioner was convicted of the first degree premeditated murder of Patrolman Ronald Smith. Petitioner was asleep in the back seat of a car when Smith, a Florida Highway Patrolman, startled petitioner awake with his service revolver "in a ready position." Songer v. Wainwright, U.S. , 53 US L.W. 3480 (Jan.7, 1985) (Brennan, J.). Petitioner reacted by firing his own qun randomly, which was answered with return fire from the patrolman. The patrolman died from the wounds he received.
- 2. advance of the sentencing hearing, petitioner informed his attorney that members of his family and friends were willing to testify as to his good character, background and normally non-violent temperament. However, based on his belief Florida law precluded such non-statutory mitigating evidence, trial counsel offered none of this. All he offered was petitioner's testimony (reiterating the circumstances of the offense) which, including cross-examination, lasted less than five minutes. Petitioner's parents journeyed from Norman, Oklahoma to Central Florida hoping to testify and sat in the courtroom throughout the trial until directed to leave counsel, when he asserted that there was "no need for (them) being there." (Transcript of Federal Habeas Hearing at 82.) Petitioner's father would have testified to his son's good character, his history and his non-violent nature. (Id. at 83.) Petitioner had lived in Norman, Oklahoma up until four days

before the crime; this testimony would therefore have been probative, contemporaneous character evidence.

3. Mr. C. John Coniglio, trial counsel for the defendant, testified on January 25, 1985, as to the circumstances surrounding the trial:

We had to go to the pocket parts to find the statute which enumerated aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (Pages 356-358)

Well, at that time I was under the impression and under the constraints I think, that we were obligated to only use those items enumerated in the statute. I was under those constraints that that was what it was limited to. I think the Court was under the same impression as was the State at that time. And I think the penalty phase indicated that, that all of us were under the constraints that we were limited to those aggravating and mitigating items that were enumerated in the statute. (Emphasis added) (Pages 357-358)

Who else was under that impression?

I think Mr. Green, who was the Assistant State Attorney, Mr. Oldham, too. My recollection is that Mr. Green handled the penalty phase. But I know the State was because as you're well aware and everybody in this room is well aware that you have conferences and you discuss what you can and cannot get into. And that was discussed in that recess. I'm confident that we were all under the constraints that that's what we were limited to. (Page 363)

Do you remember whether or not you were all in agreement that there was a limitation?

I don't think there was any disagreement or we would have put it on the record if there was, you know, a disagreement. (Page 367)

4. The trial judge also has stated candidly that he understood the statute to limit the introduction of mitigating evidence as well as consideration of mitigating evidence in imposing death or in instructing the jury on their consideration of mitigating circumstances. Throughout the hearing the judge

was concerned only with the retroactivity of Lockett v. Ohio. As he stated:

At one time when the law was first passed it was strictly limited to the statutory circumstances which were spelled out, and did not include certain items which have since been included by the statute. At that time, as you are aware, Mr. Babb, it was restricted to just certain enumerated items. (Page 392) It's difficult for the Court to make a ruling on any objections unless you can show what the law is now and whether it applied at the time of the trial. (Page 393)

5. A juror, Lisa Crews, testified as to her understanding of the jury instructions. When a question was raised as to the meaning of the jury instructions, the Court again candidly admitted that the Court intended to prohibit the jurors from considering any factors outside of the statute:

THE COURT: Well, I think the instructions as given did prohibit it to just those mitigating circumstances that were in the statute and read. (Page 388)

6. A juror, Lisa Crews, testified as to the effect the instructions had on her, which was the effect that the trial judge candidly admitted that he intended:

I remember that there was a guideline, more or less, that we used. There was...exactly how many questions there were I'm not sure. But there wasn't a lot. Let's say ten, twelve...I don't know, okay. And there were mitigating and aggravating circumstances on there, and only those we were supposed to consider. We were not to consider anything outside of that. (Page 387)

Additional pertinent parts of Lisa Crews' testimony are attached as Appendix Two.

7. After the remand hearing on August 17, 1977, the trial court reimposed the death sentence. At the remand hearing, petitioner pro se requested that certain witnesses appear to testify in mitigation. The trial court denied his request on the ground that there was no provision for the testimony of the witnesses under the remand order. (Trial Transcript at 7/336) At that time, the trial judge was still operating under the misapprehension that no evidence outside of the mitigating factors enumerated in the statute could be introduced. As C. John Coniglio testified about the re-sentencing:

I don't think we ever got to the penalty phase as I envisioned it...but we did not get the rehearing that we requested. (Page 366)

8. The trial judge maintained that evidence of non-statutory mitigating circumstances was inadmissible under Florida law at least as late as June 1978, four years after petitioner was originally sentenced and one month before <u>Lockett</u>. At the sentencing trial of another capital defendant, the judge stated on the record:

It is the court's ruling that the case cited by the defendant, 428 U.S. 242, Proffitt vs. State of Florida, does not, does not stand, the proposition that evidence can be admitted or presented to the jury in the second stage the trial, that is not specifically authorized by statute. That the state and the defense. That applied to both They are limited specifically those items that are set forth in specified or the statute. (Emphasis added.)

Transcript of Trial at 1472, <u>Hall</u> v. <u>State</u>, 403 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1982).

9. In regard to the <u>Hall</u> case, the judge refused at the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (Rule 3.850 Fla.R.Crim.P.) hearing to take judicial notice of the foregoing page from the Hall transcript, stating:

THE COURT: ...what I assume the defense is attempting to get at, is my ruling that the aggravating and mitigating circumstances are limited to those specifically specified or set forth in the statute. The law at the time of the Hall trial, and the mitigating circumstances that were applicable at the Hall trial, if my recollection is correct, are more broad than they were at the time of the Songer jury trial. (Page 418)

10. At the time of petitioner's sentencing proceedings, defense counsel (who was appointed) understood Florida's death sentencing law to preclude the introduction of evidence in mitigation that was not limited to the mitigating factors enumerated in the statutes. Because of this understanding, he failed to investigate substantial mitigating evidence, including but not limited to a parole report that described defendant's temperament as non-violent; a history of drug abuse that might have explained petitioner's behavior at the time of the crime; testimony and/or evidence regarding defendant's likelihood of rehabilitation; testimony from petitioner's family regarding his upbringing and his association with his family; testimony from friends, associates, former teachers, and clergy regarding the petitioner's pertinent character traits. In addition, because of his understanding of the restrictions of Florida law, defense counsel failed to introduce available non-statutory mitigating evidence, such as ample evidence of petitioner's good character as would have ben provided by Songer's parents who were in the Courtroom. (See affidavit of C. John Coniglio, attached as Appendix Three and 3.850 January 25, 1985 testimony, pages 359-368)

11. Judge Booth found as a matter of fact that were was prejudice to the petitioner:

The evidence and testimony proffered at the Post-Conviction hearing indicated there was evidence at the time of the Songer trial that could be presented as mitigating circumstances under present case and statutory law and Florida Supreme Court Standard Instructions. (Order of January 27, 1985, Page 6)

ARGUMENT

I.

Petitioner was denied a full and fair individualized sentencing hearing in 1974, because of the trial judge's wrongful application of Florida law:

- A. The judge intended to restrict the jury to consideration of only the mitigating circumstances found in the statute in 1974, and the jury was so limited.
- B. The judge restricted his sentencing determination to the statutory mitigating circumstances in returning a verdict of death in 1974, and again in 1977.
- C. As a result of the misconstruction of law by the trial judge, prosecutor and defense attorney, petitioner was precluded from introducing available mitigating circumstances. As a result, he was prejudiced and never received a full and fair individualized sentencing determination mandated by the Constitution.

This case presents what is perhaps the most important unresolved question regarding the administration of capital punishment in Florida.

In this case there was a misunderstanding of applicable Florida law. The trial judge believed that he could only consider in mitigation the factors specifically set forth in the statute. This belief was shared by the prosecutor and defense counsel and influenced the defense counsel not to investigate or introduce ample relevant mitigating evidence at petitioner's 1974

trial, for the sole reason that the trial judge would not allow it in.

On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court clearly assumed that only statutory mitigating evidence could be considered:

In relating the <u>statutorily</u> enumerated mitigating circumstances to the instant case, even Appellant admits that there are only three which possibly apply, i.e., youth, intoxication and insignificant prior history of criminal activity. . Thus, we agree with the trial court that there are <u>no</u> mitigating circumstances sub judice.

Songer v. State, 322 So.2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1975)(emphasis added).

Thus, not only was mitigating evidence outside of the statutory factors not introduced, but the trial court refused to consider any such evidence in passing sentence. Finally, the trial court instructed the jury that they were not to consider any mitigating factors outside of the statute, and at least one juror proves the point that jurors listen to jury instructions. Having read the jury instructions which the trial court candidly admits were intended to prohibit the jurors from considering any evidence outside of the statutory factors, that juror voted for death because she felt that she had to do so in order to keep her oath.

The trial judge has made a finding of prejudice, which finding is amply demonstrated in the testimony which has been taken. Other evidence of prejudice resulting from the foreclosure of defense counsel of the option to consider mitigating circumstances is set forth below.

HOW THE PROBLEM DEVELOPED

1.

The death penalty statute introduced a bifurcated trial into Florida law. After <u>Furman</u> v. <u>Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), legislatures were fearful that any new statutory death penalty scheme would be struck down unless it carefully controlled jury discretion. The Model Penal Code provisions, after which the Florida death penalty law was fashioned, indicated that jurors should have their discretion guided by statutory factors. At that time, at least, some commentators thought that a failure to limit juror discretion to statutorily enumerated mitigating factors would be constitutional error, as it would give the jurors too much discretion.

This might also explain why the statute seemingly limited the introduction of mitigating evidence and why a trial judge, as well as defense counsel, would so construe the statute.

This was the first bifurcated capital case tried under the new statute in the county. There were no standard jury instructions available. The instructions are quite brief and they reiterate the weighing function three times. The jury was instructed:

"Under these procedures, it is now your duty to determine, by majority vote, whether or not you advise the imposition of the death penalty based upon:

One, whether sufficient aggravating circumstances as hereinafter enumerated, exist.

Two, whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist, as hereinafter enumerated, which outweight the aggravating circumstances found to exist, and

Three, based on these considerations, whether the defendant should be sentenced to life or death.

Trial transcript, page 441 (emphasis supplied).

This is followed by a reiteration of these instructions with the addition of the various aggravating and mitigating factors. The court did introduce the aggravating circumstances with the language: "Aggravating circumstances are limited by statute to the following:" and the mitigating circumstances were introduced by the language: "Mitigating circumstances by statute are:" but this could hardly undo the harm of the previous instructions.

The jurors were lastly read two advisory sentence forms which again stated "...as to whether aggravating circumstances which were so defined in the court's charge, existed in the capital offense here involved, and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances as defined in the court's charges to outweigh such aggravating circumstances."

As the trial judge stated in his Order of January 27, 1985, he "placed the normally mandatory connotation on the word 'shall' in all places where such word was used in such statute..." (Order of January 27, 1985, Page 5).

Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) was decided on July 3, 1978, while Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (1978) was on direct review, that case being decided on September 7, 1978. Rehearing in Songer v. State was denied on December 21, 1978. A discussion of that rehearing follows.

Songer v. State on rehearing rejected petitioner's argument that the Florida death penalty statute was unconstitutional on

its face by construing the statute so as not to preclude the introduction of mitigating factors not found in the statute. In Songer v. State at 700, the court stated:

"Obviously, our construction of Section 921.141(6) has been that all relevant circumstances may be considered in mitigation and that the factors listed in the statute merely indicate the principal factors to be considered."

The court did not and was not asked to address the issue addressed in this Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (Rule 3.850 Fla.R.Crim.P.), namely: Was the statute applied by the court, prosecutor and state-appointed defense counsel in this case in an unconstitutional manner?

The evidence has now been presented that petitioner was wrongfully and unconstitutionally denied the right to present relevant character evidence as well as other mitigating evidence because of the trial court's belief. Moreover, the Supreme Court of Florida in Songer v. State did not attempt to verify its conclusion that the trial courts were not limiting introduction of mitigating circumstances. And, in fact, at least in Carl Songer's case, the trial court was limiting the introduction of such mitigating evidence.

There is no reason for the Court to expect a flood of motions like this one. The issue presented in Hitchcock and in this case concerns the unique effect of the Florida Supreme Court's interpretation and application of its death sentencing statute in the few years between the enactment of the post-Furman statute and the Lockett decision. Many of the cases tried within this narrow frame were reversed on other grounds by the Florida

Supreme Court or otherwise resolved. Of those with death sentences still unexecuted, presumably few have litigated the claim; petitioner is aware of no other such cases in this Court.

THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT CLAIM TO AN INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING DETERMINATION

The legal system has struggled to develop a system of capital punishment with two objectives in mind, that the system be consistent and principled while taking into account the uniqueness of the individual and the crime. Capital punishment must be imposed in a fair and consistent manner or not at all. The sentencer in capital cases must consider any relevant mitigating factors, for to ignore individual differences is not at all a consistent manner in which to impose the death penalty. Eddings v Oklahoma, 102 S.Ct. 869 (1982).

Eddings sought review by the United States Supreme Court. After granting certiorari, the Court reversed and held that the individualized death sentence was imposed without an consideration of mitigating factors as required by the eighth and fourteenth amendments in capital cases. Eddings specifically define what evidence constitutes a mitigating It does, however, require the sentencer to weigh all factor. evidence offered in mitigation. Due to the uniqueness and finality of the death penalty, the defendant is permitted to offer any evidence in mitigation and the sentencer is required to listen. In Eddings, the statute allowed for consideration of all mitigating circumstances, but the trial court, as in this case, had put a limiting construction on what could be considered in mitigation.

An advisory jury and a judge must have <u>all</u> possible relevant information regarding the individual defendant. To sustain a death sentence, facts should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ. <u>Jurek</u> v <u>Texas</u>, supra; Tedder v State, 322 So2d 908 (1975).

It is of vital importance to the defendant and to the community that any decision to impose the death sentence be, and appear to be, based on reason rather than caprice or emotion.

Gardner v Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 357-358 (1977).

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