IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 29 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.

66472.

CARL RAY SONGER,
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY ANN QUINCE
Assistant Attorney General

ANN GARRISON PASCHALL
Assistant Attorney General

1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's successive 3.850 motion as abuse of the procedure since these issues had been decided previously. See Dobbert v. State, infra; Sullivan v. State, infra; and State v. Washington, infra. The lengthy case history demonstrates that this Court, as well as the federal courts, have denied Appellant relief on these same claims. See Songer I - IV and Songer v. Wainwright, supra.

The trial court properly did not consider the proffered testimony of Lisa Crews since a juror is not competent to testify to matters which essentially inhere in the verdict. Linsley v. State, infra. and Section 90.607(2)(b), Florida Statutes.

The pendency of a case in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals does not justify a stay of execution. State v. Washington, infra.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE INSTANT
PETITION TO BE AN ABUSE OF THE 3.850 PROCESS.

It is well settled that a movant may not raise via 3.850 motion claims which were raised or should have been raised on direct appeal. See e.g. Christopher v. State, 416 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1982); Raulerson v. State, 420 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1982); Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980); Alvord v. State, 396 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1981).

Likewise, the trial court is not obligated to entertain a successive 3.850 motion which raises grounds previously raised and disposed of on the merits in a prior 3.850 proceeding. McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); Sullivan v. State, 441 So.2d 609 (Fla. 1983); State v. Washington, 453 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1984); Dobbert v. State, 456 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1984). This is true even if new fact are adduced in support of a previously raised claim. Cf. Sullivan, supra; Dobbert, supra.

Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., as amended December 28, 1984 provides in pertinent part:

"A second or successive motion may be dismissed if the judge finds that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge finds that the failure of the movant or his attorney to assert those grounds in a prior motion constituted an abuse of the procedure governed by these rules."

In re: Amendment to Rules of
Criminal Procedure (Rule 3.850),
So.2d ___ (Florida, Case No.
65,277, December 28, 1984)
[10 FLW 22, 23]

This amended rule became effective on January 1, 1985 at 12:01 a.m.

Id. To the extent that the rule provides a trial court need not entertain successive 3.850 motions raising grounds previously presented on a motion for post-conviction relief, it represents no change in the law. See e.g. McCrae, supra; Sullivan, supra; Dobbert, supra; Washington, supra.

The crucial change is that a trial judge may also dismiss a successive 3.850 motion which raises new grounds if he finds that failure to raise the new claim in a prior motion constituted an abuse of the writ.

Appellant was convicted in February 1974, almost eleven years ago. A review of the procedural history of this cause reflects that Songer has had an exhaustive review of his conviction and sentence. There has been no rush to judgment in this cause. Appellant has provided no compelling justification for his failure to raise these claims in his prior 3.850 motion. The committee notes to Rule 3.850, as amended, reflect that the purpose of the amendments was to bring Rule 3.850 into conformity with subrule 9(b) of Rule 35, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.¹ Id. at 10 FLW 23.

Thus, it may be useful to examine the manner in which abuse of the writ has been treated in the federal courts.

Where new grounds are raised in a second successive petition the burden is on the government to specifically allege that the Petitioner is abusing the writ by having omitted these grounds in his earlier petition. Price v. Johnston, 334 U.S. 266, 292 (1948). As

¹ The citation in the committee note appears to be in error. See Rule 9(b), Rules governing §2254 Cases in the United States District Court, 28 U.S.C. §2254.

the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals recently explained in Jones v. Estelle, 722 F.2d 159, 164 (5th Cir. 1983) (en banc), the initial pleading burden is met if the government "notes Appellant's prior writ history, indicates the claims appearing for the first time in the successive petition, and affirms its belief that Appellant is abusing the writ in a matter proscribed by Rule 9(b)." Once the government has met its burden of pleading abuse of the writ, the Appellant has the "burden of answering the allegation and of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that he has not abused the writ," Jones v. Estelle, supra 722 F.2d at 164 quoting Price v. Johnston, supra 334 U.S. at 292. (emphasis original).

The court in Jones further explained that the governing principles

boil down to the idea that a Appellant can excuse his omission of a claim from an earlier writ if he proves he did not know of the "new" claims when the earlier writ was filed. The inquiry is easily answered when the claim has been made possible by a change in the law since the last writ or a development in facts which was not reasonably knowable before. 722 F.2d at 165.

As the court noted, the objective of the procedural rules is to

preserve the proper use of the writ of habeas corpus to win review of unlawful action, while recognizing that 'the advancing of grounds for habeas corpus relief in a one-at-a-time fashion when the evidence is available which would allow all grounds to be heard and disposed of in one proceeding, is an intolerable abuse of the Great Writ.' Id. at 164 - 165 (citations omitted).

The principles of law enunciated in Jones are highly significant to the instant petition, because the Fifth Circuit held that abuse of the writ may properly be found where a Appellant was

represented by competent counsel in a prior federal habeas corpus proceeding; where the Appellant was not proceeding pro se in the first federal habeas case, a Rule 9(b) bar is not limited to those claims that the Appellant himself deliberately and knowingly withheld. Rather,

the inquiry into excuse for omitting a claim from an earlier writ will differ depending upon whether Appellant was represented by counsel in the earlier writ prosecution. Representation by competent counsel has an immediate impact upon the quality of proof necessary to prove an excuse for omitting a prior claim. With counsel the inquiry is not solely the awareness of a Petitioner, a layman, but must include that of his competent counsel. When Appellant was represented by competent counsel in a fully prosecuted writ he cannot by testimony of personal ignorance justify the omission of claims when awareness of those claims is chargeable to his competent counsel. 722 F.2d at 167.

Another factor which must be considered by this Court in determining whether there has been an abuse of the writ is the timing of the presentation of the claim. Autry v. Estelle, 719 F.2d 1247, 1250 (5th Cir. 1983). As Justice Powell stated in Woodard v. Hutchins, ___ U.S. ___, 104 S.Ct. 752, 78 L.Ed.2d 541, 543 (1984) "this is another capital case in which a last minute application for a stay of execution and a new petition for writ of habeas corpus relief having been filed with no explanation as to why the claims were not raised earlier or why they were not all raised in one petition. It is another example of abuse of the writ." Cf. Washington v. Wainwright, 737 F.2d 922 (11th Cir. 1984); Sullivan v. Wainwright, 721 F.2d 316 (11th Cir. 1983); Antone v. Dugger, ___ U.S. ___, 104 S.Ct. ___, 79 L.Ed.2d 147 (1984); Shriner v. Wainwright, 735 F.2d 1236 (11th Cir. 1984).

In the instant case, the only "new" claim is Songer's contention that being on death row for eleven years is cruel and unusual punishment. The trial court expressed a belief that this issue was improperly raised via a 3.850 motion, and rejected the claim for lack of proof.² Appellee must note that the claim must also be deemed an abuse of the 3.850 process since it could easily have been raised on Songer's prior motion or at an earlier time than the present. Songer's testimony that he did not deliberately withhold any claim is unpersuasive. Jones v. Estelle, supra.

Songer conceded through counsel at the 3.850 hearing that all four claims in the instant motion had been raised before. (R) Thus the testimony from original collateral counsel, Joseph Jordan, that he raised every claim he knew about, and had not deliberately held back any claims does not support Songer's argument that these claims are not an abuse of the writ. Nor does Jordan's testimony that he was under time pressure when the initial 3.850 was filed provide justification for an attempt to relitigate issues here. Cf. Antone v. Dugger, __ U.S. __, 104 S.Ct. __, 79 L.Ed.2d 147 (1984).

Finally, Songer's argument that the evolution of the law both as to his Lockett³ and ineffective assistance of counsel claims entitle him to relief is without merit.⁴ This Court has held that

² It should be noted that Songer was not limited in his presentation of evidence before the trial court nor did he argue that he had inadequate time to present this claim. (R 422 - 423)

³ Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978).

⁴ It should perhaps be noted that Songer had the benefit of both Strickland v. Washington and Proffitt while his claims were pending in federal court.

Strickland v. Washington, ___ U.S. ___, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) did not materially change this standard for determining ineffective assistance of counsel as it had been set forth in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981). Jackson v. State, 452 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1984); Dobbert, supra. Likewise, a reading of the cases cited by Songer to demonstrate that the law has evolved with respect to Lockett in such a way as to merit reconsideration of the issue is unpersuasive. See e.g. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982).

The trial court properly denied the instant motion, as amended, because it constituted an abuse of the 3.850 process.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE TESTIMONY OF LISA CREWS.

At his 3.850 hearing on January 25, 1985, Songer offered the testimony of Lisa Crews, a juror in the Songer trial. (R 397 - 403) The substance of the proffered testimony was:

1. Juror Crews believed she could only consider statutory mitigating factors.
2. If Crews had been allowed to get to know Songer as a person, she might not have voted for the death penalty.
3. Although she does not really remember the discussions in the jury room, she is sure the other jurors shared her belief that only statutory mitigating factors could be considered.

Appellee objected strenuously to the admission of this testimony and even to the proffer. The trial court correctly refused to admit this testimony into evidence or consider it in reaching its decision.

First and foremost, Ms. Crews' existence as a potential witness was known to Songer as early as 1980 when she contacted him. As noted earlier, the existence of a possible Lockett⁵ claim was known to Songer or his counsel at least as early as 1978. Songer has not established that he could not, with the exercise of due diligence have obtained this information at the time his first 3.850 was filed. Secondly, it is absurd to assume that Crews is competent to testify to the impressions of the jurors as a whole, either as regards their understanding of the instructions or what the verdict

⁵ Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978).

would have been if mitigating evidence were presented.

Most importantly such testimony is precluded by §90.607(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1983) which provides:

"Upon inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror is not competent to testify as to any matter which essentially inheres in the verdict or indictment."

The Court in McAllister Hotel, Inc. v. Porte, 123 So.2d 339, 344 (Fla. 1960), explained

"[T]he law does not permit a juror to avoid his verdict for any reason which essentially inheres in the verdict itself, as that he did not assent to the verdict; that he misunderstood the instructions of the Court; the statements of witnesses or the pleadings in the case; that he was unduly influenced by the statements or otherwise of his fellow jurors; or mistaken in his calculations or judgment, or other matters resting alone in the juror's breast."

See also Linsley v. State, 88 Fla. 135, 101 So. 273 (1924). Thus an inquiry, such as Songer ought to make into the thought processes, calculations, or judgment of jurors is prohibited. Velsor v. All State Insurance Company, 329 So.2d 391 (Fla. 2 DCA 1976); Cummings v. Sine, 404 So.2d 147 (Fla. 2 DCA 1981); Sentinel Star Company v. Edwards, 387 So.2d 367 (Fla. 5 DCA 1980).

Songer argued to the trial court that either (1) he should be permitted to ignore the provisions of §90.607(2)(b) since his is a death case or (2) the statute is unconstitutional. In simple fact, Songer can show no authority which would allow him to make the inquiry he desires, nor should such an inquiry be permitted as it would invade the sanctity of the jury process and affect each individual's right to a jury trial. As this Court said in Linsley, "when a juror is heard to impeach his own verdict because of some

matters resting in his own consciousness, the power is given to him to nullify the expressed conclusions under oath of himself and eleven others." Id. at 101 So.2d 275. The Crews testimony was properly excluded.

ISSUE III

APPELLANT WAS NOT RESTRICTED BY STATUTE OR JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN THE PRESENTATION OF HIS MITIGATING EVIDENCE NOR WAS COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PUT ON EVIDENCE HE HAD REJECTED FOR TACTICAL REASONS.

Since Appellant's issues A - D all hinge on whether Appellant was restricted in his presentation of mitigating evidence, they will be argued together in this brief.

As early as Appellant's second appearance before this Court (on direct appeal from resentencing the issue of the limitation on mitigating evidence has been examined in this case. It was in that case, Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), (Songer II), that this Court first said the Florida sentencing statute, Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, does not violate the constitutional principle expounded in Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978). It was in Lockett the United States Supreme Court indicated a death penalty statute which limited the sentencer's consideration of mitigating evidence was unconstitutional.

In Songer II, thus Court took the opportunity to point out that our statute does not restrict a sentencer's consideration to only those mitigating circumstances listed in the statute. The list of aggravating circumstances is prefaced by the language "shall be limited to;" there is no such restrictive language preceding the list of mitigating factors. It was also pointed out that Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976) dealt not with the exclusivity of the statutory mitigating circumstances but rather with whether proffered evidence was probative.

Additionally, it was pointed out that this Court has approved

of the trial court's consideration of non-statutory mitigating evidence in a number of cases decided before Lockett. See Songer v. State, 365 So.2d at 700. A close perusal of some of these cases reveals a number of the sentencing hearings, like Songer's, occurred prior to the Cooper decision. See Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975); Messer v. State, 330 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1976); Meeks v. State, 336 So.2d 1142 (Fla. 1976); Chambers v. State, 339 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1976) and McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977).

Appellant re-raised this issue on his original 3.850 motion in 1980. On appeal from the denial of relief, it was held that the issue had been addressed in Songer II. See Songer v. State, 419 So.2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1982) (Songer III). On federal habeas the district court addressed this issue both in terms of counsel's performance and the instructions given to the jury. Songer v. Wainwright, 571 F.Supp.. 1384, 1395 - 1399 (M.D. Fla. 1983).

Of the kind of testimony Appellant initially said should have been presented, the only matter not presented or rejected for tactical reasons was the testimony of Appellant's father that he was a good boy. Defense counsel at the original 3.850 hearing indicated because of local prejudice he did not want to put on extensive drug use testimony. See Songer v. State, 419 So.2d at 1047. Yet now, over four years later and after a multitude of courts - the trial court, this Court, United States District Court, United States Court of Appeals and the United States Supreme Court - have addressed themselves to this issue, counsel says he would have put on doctors, etc. to fully develop use of drugs as mitigating. It is interesting to note that this type of testimony could well fit under

the enumerated statutory mitigating circumstances. In 1974 two of the statutory mitigating circumstances were:

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